# RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN12-30-2015 IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Yasmine Clark a Minor, by her Guardian ad litem, Susan M. Gramling,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

American Cyanamid Company, Armstrong Containers. Inc., E.I. Dupont De Nemours and Company, Atlantic Richfield Company and The Sherwin-Williams Company,

Defendants-Appellants,

Milwaukee County Department of Health and Human Services and NL Industries, Inc.,

Defendants.

Appeal No. 2014AP000775

On Certified Appeal from the Milwaukee County Circuit Court The Honorable David A. Hansher, Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 06-CV-12653

### **OPENING BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS**

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

(1) Did the trial court err in holding that Plaintiff Yasmine Clark gained a "vested right" to pursue a personal injury claim under the expanded risk-contribution rule that was enunciated in *Thomas ex rel. Gramling v. Mallett*, 2005 WI 129, 285 Wis. 2d 236, 701 N.W.2d 523, two years after her alleged injury?

(2) Did the trial court err in holding that the Wisconsin Legislature lacked a rational basis to amend Section 895.046 in order to clarify and restore Wisconsin's common law to the standard that existed before *Thomas*?

### **INTRODUCTION**

The Wisconsin Constitution permits the Legislature to set public policy by defining the law applicable to pending tort cases so long as legislation does not disturb a party's settled expectations at the time of injury. Yasmine Clark claims that, in 2003, she ingested white lead carbonate pigments ("WLC") used in paint. At the time of her alleged exposure and injury, she admittedly had no viable claim against former manufacturers of WLC because she could not identify the manufacturer of the product that allegedly injured her and she could not meet the risk-contribution theory's criteria as set forth in *Collins v. Eli Lilly Co.*, 116 Wis. 2d 166, 342 N.W.2d 37 (1984).

Two years after Clark's alleged injury, this Court considered whether to expand the risk-contribution theory beyond *Collins* to enable a plaintiff to sue former WLC manufacturers. Admittedly fashioning new law, the Court held that the plaintiff in that case, Steven Thomas, could potentially use the risk-contribution theory if he could carry his burden to prove that the theory applies factually and if the new theory could pass muster under constitutional and public policy principles. *Thomas ex rel. Gramling v. Mallett*, 2005 WI 129, ¶166, 285 Wis. 2d 236, 701 N.W.2d 523. This Court decided not to address those open questions at the time because the Court was merely reviewing a summary judgment in favor of Defendants. *Id.* ¶¶4, 140 n.47. On remand, the case went to trial and resulted in a defense verdict when the jury determined that Thomas was not injured by WLC. The Court of Appeals affirmed. *Thomas v. Mallett*, 2011 WI App 19, 331 Wis. 2d 486, 795 N.W.2d 62 (2010). Consequently, the open issues concerning the applicability, public policy, and constitutionality of the risk-contribution theory as extended to former WLC manufacturers remained unresolved.

In 2011, the Legislature stepped in. It disagreed with the potential expansion of the risk-contribution theory in *Thomas* and prospectively restored the theory to *Collins* criteria. Wis. Stat. § 895.046 ("2011 Act"). Plaintiff does not challenge the constitutionality of the 2011 Act.

In 2013, concerned by the unfairness of the large number of risk-contribution cases filed against manufacturers of WLC and other

3

products and by the risk to the State's manufacturing economy, the Legislature applied its 2011 Act to pending cases, whenever filed. Wis. Stat. § 895.046 ("2013 Act" or "Legislation"). Although Clark's rights, if any, against former WLC manufacturers are no different now from what they were when her claim arose, she argues that the 2013 Act is impermissibly retroactive because she cannot invoke *Thomas*.

The 2013 Act is constitutionally permissible for two reasons. *First,* Clark could not have had any "settled expectation" in a judicial decision that did not exist at the time of her injury in 2003. Even as of 2013 and today, the extension of the risk-contribution theory to WLC remains unsettled because of open questions. Because the 2013 Act does not deprive Clark of any vested right, it has no unconstitutionally retroactive effect here. As this Court has held many times, there is nothing unfair or unconstitutional about requiring a plaintiff to proceed under the law in effect at the time of alleged injury. *See, e.g., Matthies v. Positive Safety Mfg. Co.,* 2001 WI 82, ¶23, 244 Wis. 2d 720, 628 N.W.2d 842.

This appeal presents unique circumstances for this Court. It has not addressed whether a previously non-existent right of action can be deemed to vest retroactively back in time to when a claim accrued. In the closest analogous decision, the Ninth Circuit ruled that no "injustice" occurs when legislation merely restores the law to the parties' expectations at the time that the claim accrued. *Boykin v. Boeing Co.*, 128 F.3d 1279, 1283 (9th Cir. 1997).

Second, the Legislature provided a rational purpose for applying the 2011 Act to pending cases. The Legislature determined that it is in "the public interest" to preserve tort law according to its "historical, common law roots." It acted to safeguard the fairness of the tort system as well as defendants' constitutional rights and to avoid jeopardizing economic development. This Court has found the same legislative reasons sufficient to uphold other economic legislation, and there is no question that the Legislature can prescribe rules of tort and product liability law. Accordingly, the Legislature acted within its constitutional authority when it restored the law to how it stood at the time that Clark's claim accrued in 2003. In contrast, the trial court overstepped its constitutional bounds by not giving proper deference to the Legislature's policy and findings. Therefore, the Court should reverse and direct the trial court to enter judgment for the WLC manufacturer defendants.

### BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Yasmine Clark alleges that she was injured in 2003 from ingestion of paint containing WLC at two former residences built in 1891 and 1907. *See* R.476; A-App. 027 ("March of 2003 constitutes the operative time period for this Court's analysis"). Consequently, those WLC pigments may have been over 100 years old when she allegedly was exposed. WLC pigments have not been used in interior residential paints for at least 60 years.

When the rental properties were built, property owners typically hired master painters, who mixed ingredients on site to make paint. *Thomas*, 2005 WI 129, ¶187 (Wilcox, J. dissenting) (referring to undisputed facts in record). Paint containing WLC was the gold standard then, because it adhered, covered surfaces well, and lasted. *Id.* ¶¶37, 182-84. The brand, type, and amount of WLC and other lead and non-lead ingredients within a particular paint batch varied by each painter's mixture. *Id.* ¶188.

WLC had different formulations, properties, and characteristics, depending on its manufacture. *See Thomas*, 2005 WI 129, ¶¶37-39, 183-84 (Wilcox, J. dissenting). Each WLC manufacturer labeled its WLC distinctly with its brand name and logo. *Id.* ¶185. The pigment maker did not decide the paint formula; the paint manufacturer or mixer did. *See id.* ¶¶182, 187. WLC, which is a processed raw material, was also used in paints for many non-residential applications and was "not a material used exclusively by the paint industry." *Id.* ¶186. By the twentieth century, the market for WLC was welldeveloped. *Id.* ¶¶183, 186, 188. Hundreds of companies produced or sold WLC or paint with WLC in Wisconsin. *Id.* ¶¶185-190 (over 200 paint manufacturers in Milwaukee alone between 1910 and 1971).

Paints containing WLC remained prominent throughout the early decades of the 1900s. *Id.* ¶¶13, 183, 186, 188. Their use, however, diminished as alternative pigments were developed and ready-mixed paints became available that the general public could

7

easily apply. *Id.* ¶13. In 1955, as a result of evolving medical knowledge, paint manufacturers adopted a voluntary standard prohibiting the use of WLC in interior residential paints. *Id.* In 1972, the United States Food & Drug Administration banned household paint with greater than 0.5% lead by weight from interstate commerce as of December 31 of that year. 37 Fed. Reg. 4915 (March 7, 1972), 5229 (March 11, 1972), 16872 (August 22, 1972). This regulation effectively prohibited the use of WLC as a pigment in any residential paint. In 1978, the federal government banned paint with more than 0.06% lead from residential use. 16 C.F.R. § 1303.1.

Federal, state, and local laws do not consider intact lead paint to be a hazard. Wis. Admin. Code, DHS § 163.42. They also require owners to prevent or abate lead-based paint hazards on their properties. For example, the federal Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard Reduction Act requires owners of pre-1978 housing to disclose to prospective tenants any known lead-based paint or leadbased paint hazard within the property. *See* 42 U.S.C. § 4852d. The Act creates a statutory right of action against owners who knowingly

8

fail to comply. *Id.* Environmental Protection Agency and Department of Housing and Urban Development regulations reinforce these statutory requirements, *see* 24 C.F.R. § 35.88, and EPA has sued owners for non-compliance. *See, e.g., United States v. Sherard*, No. 05-CV-486-JPS, 2015 WL 1840050 (E.D. Wis. Apr. 22, 2015).

Landlords of pre-1978 residential rental properties also have a common-law duty to test for lead-based paint if they know or should know of deteriorating paint, and they may be held liable for a tenant's injury. *See Antwaun A. v. Heritage Mut. Ins. Co.*, 228 Wis. 2d 44, 596 N.W.2d 456 (1999). In addition, on pain of criminal penalties, Milwaukee's city ordinances prohibit a landlord from "knowingly allow[ing] to exist in or on their property any lead-based nuisance." *See* City of Milwaukee Code of Ordinances § 66-22(1)(a). Clark sued her landlords, R.1; A-App. 002, ¶¶3-6, and neither the 2011 nor 2013 Act affected her claims against her landlords for negligent maintenance.

In 2003, when Clark's claim accrued, Wisconsin law did not permit her to recover from any WLC manufacturer without proving that it made the pigment she ingested. Two years later, this Court changed Wisconsin law. In *Thomas*, the Court reviewed a summary judgment granted in favor of the former WLC manufacturers. Because of the procedural posture, the Court assumed that plaintiff's allegations were true. 2005 WI 129, ¶¶4, 140 n.47. Consequently, the Court assumed that the former WLC manufacturers acted culpably with knowledge that their products would harm children,<sup>1</sup> and that former WLC manufacturers could insure, absorb, or distribute the costs of adverse judgments. *Id.* ¶136.

Based on those assumptions, among others, the *Thomas* majority held that plaintiffs alleging injury from WLC ingestion could rely on the risk-contribution theory if they proved certain fact-based criteria and if their claims passed tests of constitutionality and public policy that *Thomas* deferred for future decision. *Id.* ¶¶131, 166. The *Thomas* majority acknowledged that it was making new law, *id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Later litigation has proven this assumption to be mistaken. In *City of Milwaukee v. NL Indus., Inc.*, 2008 WI App 181, 315 Wis. 2d 443, 762 N.W.2d 757, the jury found, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, that the leading WLC manufacturer historically did not know the health risks to children from lead dust when selling WLC pigments for residential use before the 1970s.

¶¶134, 149; the dissents called that extension "an unwarranted and unprecedented relaxation of the traditional rules governing tort liability," *id.* ¶178, a "drastic expansion of the risk-contribution theory [that] clearly distorts the original rationale behind the *Collins* decision," *id.* ¶259, and the adoption of "a version of risk-contribution theory explicitly rejected in *Collins.*" *Id.* ¶261.

*Collins* itself had "deviate[d] from traditional notions of tort law" to allow recovery without identification of a specific manufacturer in cases involving the generic drug diethylstilbestrol ("DES"). 116 Wis. 2d at 181. Central to *Collins* was the factual situation that DES presented: DES had one identical formula across all makers; DES manufacturers controlled end product risks; DES plaintiffs presented a signature injury; the relevant time period was limited to the nine-month window of DES mothers' pregnancy; and the geographic scope was confined to a neighborhood pharmacy. *Id*. None of these circumstances fits WLC.

The *Thomas* majority acknowledged that WLC claims are "not identical to *Collins*" and several "dissimilarities between [the two

cases]" exist, including lack of a generic product, wide window of harm, and many other causes of harm and lead sources. 2005 WI 129, ¶¶147, 150, 152, 154. The Court further recognized that it was changing the common law and that this change would create legal uncertainty. *Id.* ¶130. As the *Thomas* majority said, its opinion posed "difficult problems," including exposing manufacturers to "possible liability for white lead carbonate they may not have produced or marketed." *Id.* ¶132.

Thomas only took the first step in analyzing whether the riskcontribution theory could extend to WLC manufacturers and, if so, the criteria for that theory. The Court left many facts and issues unresolved, including the constitutional and public policy questions raised by defendants. *Id.* ¶166 ("These constitutional issues are not ripe"). Consequently, whether plaintiffs who could not identify specific WLC manufacturers as the cause of their alleged injuries had a viable right of action was still uncertain and evolving.

*Thomas* spawned numerous lawsuits. 173 risk-contribution claims were filed against former WLC manufacturers. Suits have not

been limited to WLC. *See* R.471; A-App. 097-98, ¶¶3-6 (risk-contribution claims filed for alleged exposure to asbestos, solvents, and other non-WLC products).

*Thomas*'s monumental shift in tort law triggered immediate public debate. One commentator noted:

*Thomas* threatens to change this longstanding practice [the need to prove causation], opening the door to the expense and injustices of lawsuit abuse .... Every manufacturer in Wisconsin, and indeed every manufacturer located anywhere in the world, should worry about the precedent set by *Thomas* and by the state government's failure to correct it .... [E]very consumer has a stake in the outcome of this debate as well.<sup>2</sup>

Similarly, former Wisconsin Supreme Court Justice and current U.S. Court of Appeals Judge Diane Sykes commented that *Thomas* "basically operates as a form of collective tort liability untethered to any actual responsibility for the specific harm asserted, imposed by the judiciary as a matter of loss-distribution policy...."<sup>3</sup> The *Wall* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> R.471, Ex. M; A-App. 209-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> R.471, Ex. N; A-App. 213-16.

*Street Journal* predicted that Wisconsin would become "a favorite trial lawyer destination."<sup>4</sup> Others just as vigorously defended the *Thomas* majority. Public debate over *Thomas* and the expansion of Wisconsin tort law continued during the election campaign of the decision's author years later.<sup>5</sup>

In response to the public debate, the Legislature passed corrective legislation immediately in 2005, but the then-Governor vetoed it.<sup>6</sup> In January 2011, the Legislature enacted the 2011 Act. This Act restored prospectively *Collins*'s risk-contribution criteria and expressed the Legislature's belief that the risk-contribution theory should not apply to former WLC manufacturers. Before the effective date of the 2011 Act, 164 new plaintiffs filed risk-contribution claims

<sup>6</sup> See 2005 S.B. 402, 2005-2006 Legis., Reg. Sess. (Wis. 2005). The legislative history for Wis. Stat. § 895.046, as passed in 2011 and amended in 2013, can be found at https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/session\_archive. *See, e.g.*, https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2011/related/drafting\_files/wisco nsin\_acts/2011\_act\_002\_sb\_1\_jr1; https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2011/re lated/drafting\_files/senate\_intro\_legislation/senate\_bills\_not\_enacted/2011\_sb\_373; and https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2013/related/drafting\_files/st ate\_budget. This Court may take judicial notice of the legislative history, some of which is included in the record. R.471, Ex. D, A-App. 138-45; Exs. K-L, A-App. 190-207.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> R.471, Ex. O; A-App. 218-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., R.471, Ex. P; A-App. 221-22.

based on *Thomas*. That same year, a Senator began the process to effectuate the purpose of the 2011 Act by applying it to pending cases, whenever filed.<sup>7</sup> Eighteen months later, after public hearing, the Legislature amended Section 895.046 to apply to "all actions in law or equity, whenever filed or accrued." This amended law, which became effective July 2, 2013, applies to Clark's claims.

The Legislature's Findings and Intent explained its reasoning for applying Wis. Stat. § 895.046 to pending cases. First, the Legislature found that "it is in the public interest" to preserve wellsettled Wisconsin tort law and limit the risk-contribution theory to *Collins*. Wis. Stat. § 895.046(1g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> An initial draft amendment, submitted on January 3, 2012, explained that the Legislature's intent to "restore to Wisconsin law the traditional common law requirements" was thwarted by the rush to the courthouse and plaintiffs' argument that the 2011 Act did not apply to claimants exposed to products before its enactment. *See* Drafting File for 2011 S.B. 373, 2011-2012 Legis., Reg. Sess., at 26 (Wis. 2011) (*available at* https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2011/related/drafting\_files/senate\_intro\_legislation/senate\_bills\_not\_enacted/2011\_sb\_373/01\_sb\_373/11\_3693df.p df). The draft stated that the 2011 Act should apply to "all parties to product liability claims, including Wisconsin manufacturers, in a uniform, consistent and predictable manner," but that, without the proposed amendment, "Wisconsin courts could continue to apply Thomas' 'risk contribution theory' to Wisconsin manufacturers for years or even decades to come." *Id.* Thus, the legislative history confirms the plain language of the Legislature's Findings and Intent.

Second, the Legislature balanced the "rights of citizens to pursue legitimate and timely claims," while ensuring that "businesses may conduct activities in this state without fear of being sued for indefinite claims of harm from products which businesses may never have manufactured, distributed, sold, or promoted, or which were made and sold decades ago." *Id.* That balance favored limiting the risk-contribution theory, considering that WLC plaintiffs could still pursue damages for their injuries from negligent landlords. *Thomas*, 2005 WI 129, ¶¶124, 198-200.

Third, the Legislature found that *Thomas* "raised substantial questions of deprivation of due process, equal protection, and right to jury trial under the federal and Wisconsin constitutions." Wis. Stat. § 895.046(1g).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2006, after *Thomas* changed the law, Clark sued several former WLC manufacturers ("Manufacturers") for injuries she allegedly sustained in 2003, though she could not identify the manufacturers of the WLC that she allegedly ingested.<sup>8</sup> R.1; A-App. 005, ¶23. Contending that the deteriorated properties in which she lived had "peeling and chipping paint," R.1; A-App. 009, ¶40, 011, ¶46, her landlords had violated City of Milwaukee Code of Ordinances §§ 66-20, 66-22, and 66-29, R.1; A-App. 010-12, ¶¶42, 48, and her landlords' negligent maintenance had caused her injuries, Clark sued her landlords, too. R.1; A-App. 002, ¶¶3-6.

This case proceeded with discovery until 2010. Then, a federal district court held that retroactive application of *Thomas*'s risk-contribution theory to the Manufacturers' long-ago conduct violated federal guarantees of due process. *Gibson v. American Cyanamid Co.*, 719 F. Supp. 2d 1031, 1052 (E.D. Wis. 2010), *rev'd* 760 F.3d 600 (7th Cir. 2014). Pending the appeal in *Gibson*, the Circuit Court stayed this case.

After the enactment and amendment of Section 895.046, the Manufacturers moved for dismissal (later converted into a motion for summary judgment) of Clark's claims against them. R.476; A-App.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For the Court's convenience, a timeline of events is included at the end of this brief.

021. Clark opposed dismissal and filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to declare that Section 895.046 violates due process under Wisconsin's Constitution. *Id.* The Manufacturers opposed Clark's motion. *Id.*

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