## RECEIVED

### WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT 03-08-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

YASMINE CLARK, a Minor, by her Guardian ad Litem, SUSAN M. GRAMLING;

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2014-AP-775

v.

AMERICAN CYANAMID CO., ARMSTRONG CONTAINERS, INC., E.I. DUPONT DE NEMOURS AND COMPANY, ATLANTIC RICHFIELD COMPANY, THE SHERWIN-WILLIAMS COMPANY,

Defendants-Appellants,

MILWAUKEE COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, And NL INDUSTRIES, INC.

Defendant.

On Certified Appeal of a Non-Final Order of Milwaukee County Circuit Court The Honorable David A. Hansher, Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 06-CV-12653,

#### **BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF § 895.046, WIS. STATS., VIOLATES YASMINE CLARK'S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS

Retroactive legislation, like this, that deprives individuals of vested property rights, is viewed with suspicion and analyzed differently from prospective legislation. *Martin v. Richards*, 192 Wis. 2d 156, 200-01 (1995). The Wisconsin Supreme Court has adopted a two-part balancing test to determine whether retroactive statutes comport with due process. *Id.; see also Society Ins.*, 2010 WI 68, at ¶28. The first step is to determine whether the statute actually has a retroactive effect on a vested right. *Id.* The second step is to weigh "the public interest served by retroactively applying the statute against the private interest that the retroactive application of the statute would affect." *Id.*, at ¶30 (quoting *Matthies v. Positive Safety Mfg.*, 2001 WI 82, § 27, 244 Wis.2d 720).

## 1. The First Step In Determining Whether Retroactive Application Is Unconstitutional Is To Determine Whether The Statute Actually Has A Retroactive Effect on a Vested Right.

Under Wisconsin law, there is no serious question that Yasmine has a vested property interest that would be eliminated by the retroactive nature of the legislation at issue. This question was unequivocally answered by the Seventh Circuit when it determined that a lead-poisoned child had a

"vested right" in his claims under Thomas's risk-contribution theory. The Wisconsin Supreme Court decisions in Matthies and in Martin both dictate that a plaintiff's interest in a common-law claim is a protected vested interest. In Matthies, the interest was the plaintiff's previously existing common-law negligence claim, specifically, his right to hold a defendant jointly and severally liable without having to prove that the defendant was more than 50% negligent (the statute at issue extinguished joint and several liability unless that threshold of comparative negligence was met). Matthies explained that an "existing right of action which has accrued under the rules of the common law or in accordance with its principles is a vested property right." Similarly, in Martin, the statute at issue imposed caps on non-economic damages, and the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that, when the plaintiffs' claim accrued, they "had a substantive right to recover, in full, the non[-]economic damages awarded by the jury," and that right was vested for due-process purposes. Just so here, where Gibson's right to pursue the risk-contribution theory of liability on his negligence and strict-liability claims had already accrued by the time Section 895.046 tried to extinguish that right in June 2013.

*Gibson*, 760 F. 3d at 609. Significantly, the lead poisoned child in *Gibson*, like Yasmine, was poisoned before this Court's decision in *Thomas* and he filed suit against the lead pigment manufacturers after the *Thomas* decision was issued.

The holding in *Gibson* is supported by black-letter Wisconsin precedent. As noted in *Neiman v. American National Property & Casualty Co.*, 2000 WI 83 ¶14, 236 Wis.2d 411 (2000), "[t]he concept of vested rights is conclusory – a right is vested when it has been so far perfected that it cannot be taken away by statute." A statute has a retroactive effect where it modifies or eliminates a preexisting vested right. *Society Insurance*, at ¶ 29; *Matthies*, at ¶22.

"It is the fact and date of injury that sets in force and operation the factors that create and establish the basis for a claim of damages." *Matthies*, at ¶22. As alleged in her complaint, Yasmine's injuries occurred on two separate occasions, the first in 2003 and the second in 2006. As a result, she acquired a vested right in a cause of action against the manufacturers and sellers of lead paint based on the risk contribution doctrine which was the law at the time of each of her separate injuries in 2003 and 2006, as well as on the date she filed her complaint.

The Defendants-Appellants erroneously argue that §809.046, Wis. Stats., is not retroactive as to Yasmine because Thomas was not the law in Wisconsin during the summer of 2003 when she was first poisoned at 3738 West Galena Street. Therefore, the Defendants-Appellants assert that the retroactive statute does nothing more than return the law to what it was when her first claim accrued. See Defendants'-Appellants' brief, at pp. 15-24. However, this argument fails for several reasons. First, it is abundantly well established that judicial decisions have retroactive application under Wisconsin law, this is the rule, not the exception. R-476, at p. 12 (citing In re Commitment of Thiel, 2001 WI App. 52 ¶ 7, 241 Wis.2d 439; Fitzgerald v. Meissner & Hicks, Inc., 38 Wis.2d 571, 580 (1968); see also Trinity v. Scott Oil, 2007 WI 88, ¶76, 302 Wis.2d 299, 330-31 (2007)(Wisconsin adheres to the presumption of retroactivity for judicial holdings); Wenke v. Gehl, 2004 WI 103, ¶69, 274 Wis.2d 220, 267-68 (2004)("In civil cases, we presume retroactive application."). This is because, generally, judicial holdings are statements of what the law is, not what it will be.

Second, on July 15, 2005, the *Thomas* Court declared the meaning of Art. I, § 9, in the context of lead poisoning claims proceeding under risk

contribution – a holding that was applicable to the lead poisoning claims of Steven Thomas <u>that had accrued in 1993</u>. Thomas, at ¶¶ 5-10. Such judicial holdings that clarify state constitutional law do not change constitution provisions, rather they declare the meaning of those provisions and the clarification is necessarily retroactive. In other words, there is not one version of Article I, § 9, existing before the *Thomas* decision in which the meaning of the word "or" is not interpreted in the disjunctive and another version after the *Thomas* decision where it is.

Third, as explained at pages 4 to 10 of this Brief, *infra*, the *Thomas* decision did not create one body of law retroactively applicable to Steven Thomas, separate and part from the body of law applicable to all other lead poisoned children whose causes of action accrued between 1993 and 2005. Indeed, such a suggestion is contrary to the entire foundation of the judicial system and logic itself. It is not difficult to conceive of the mayhem that would be created if each judicial decision was limited to declaring the law in that particular case only, as opposed to the law in all similar cases.

Fourth, as explained in *Society Insurance* (at  $\P$  33), the Court should look to determine whether Yasmine relied "upon the law as set forth by the courts [i.e. *Collins* and *Thomas*] and the legislature [no statute precluded risk contribution and no statute of repose applied]" when she filed her lawsuit on December 27, 2006. Yasmine's reliance on the law declared by this Court was indisputably justified, and the retroactive legislation "suddenly and without individualized consideration" swept away her "settled expectation" that she had a right to her cause of action. *Id.* 

Defendants-Appellants have no basis to argue that Yasmine's right to a cause of action under risk contribution could not have vested because in their erroneous view four "serious questions remain unanswered regarding the *Thomas* decision":

(1) "[W]hether the expansion of risk contribution theory to WLC comports with due process." This assertion is bogus and merits no consideration by the Court in light of *Gibson*, 760 F.3d at 627.

(2) "[W]hether it could pass muster under Wisconsin's public policy analysis." This assertion is not ripe and merits no consideration by the Court in light of *Alvarado v. Sersch,* 2003 WI 55, 262 Wis.2d 74 (2003).

(3) "[W]hether *Thomas* can be applied retroactively." This assertion has no merit in light of the facts that: (a) *Collins* 'creation of risk contribution was undeniably retroactive to the many additional lawsuit for past exposure to DES expressly contemplated by the Court (116 Wis.2d at 181), (b) *Thomas* itself which expressly cited that reasoning in determining white lead pigments were factually similar to DES, (*See infra*, at pp. 8-10), and (c) The Court in *Gibson*, 760 F.2d 600 clearly answered this question for Ernest Gibson, finding that the *Thomas* decision's retroactive application to factually analogous situations was constitutionally permissible. (4) "[W]hether the facts below would support the product fungibility." This assertion similarly is without merit and has been answered by this Court previously in *Thomas*, as well as *Baez-Godoy v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, 2009 WI 78, 319 Wis.2d 91. In *Thomas*, this Court found that the "facts presented in this case, when construed in the light most favorable to Thomas, however, *establish that white lead carbonate is fungible* under any of the above meanings." *Thomas* at ¶ 145. *See also Baez Godoy*, at ¶ 23("[i]n *Thomas*, we concluded that for purposes of risk-contribution, white lead carbonate is fungible.").<sup>7</sup>

The absence of substantive legal merit to any of these so-called "open questions" aside, it is also pertinent to point out that the argument involves a sleight of hand by changing the "vested right" at issue to suit their reasoning. Instead of discussing whether Yasmine has a <u>vested right in her cause of action</u>, they substitute the question of whether she has a <u>vested right to actual recovery</u>. As Judge Hansher noted:

"The WLC Defendants correctly assert that at the time the 2013 amendments were enacted, the Plaintiff had no vested right to <u>recover</u> damages. However, this fact is irrelevant, because the vested right at issue here is the Plaintiff's vested right to causes of action against the WLC Defendants under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Of significance to the constitutionality of the retroactive amendment to §895.046, Wis. Stats., is that the statute also retroactively vitiates joint and several liability in lead poisoning cases (*see* §895.046(6), Wis. Stats.) thereby going even further than the retroactive limitation of joint and several liability found unconstitutional in *Matthies*. The statute at issue also retroactively imposes a 25 year statute of repose (see §895.046(5), Wis. Stats.) completely extinguishing all lead poisoning claims because all production of residential lead paint ended as of 1978, which was 35 years ago. This surely runs afoul of well established binding precedent such as *Borello v. U.S. Oil Co.*, 130 Wis.2d 397, 416 (1986)(new law changing a statute of limitations cannot be applied retroactively to extinguish a vested right to a cause of action).

*Thomas.* The Plaintiff's vested right right to pursue claims against the WLC Defendants under *Thomas* is not rendered conditional by the fact that several legal and factual contingencies stand in the way of the Plaintiff's right to recover upon such claims. If that were the case, it is difficult to imagine a situation where a plaintiff would have a vested right to any cause of action, as there are always legal and factual contingencies that stand in the way of a plaintiff's ultimate recovery."

R-476, at 13. (emphasis in original)

No one disputes that a right to actual recovery is contingent until perfected by judgment.<sup>8</sup> However, the relevant question is whether the retroactive amendment to §895.046, Wis. Stats., affects a substantive right to a cause of action that accrued before the passage of the legislation. Hunter v. School District of Gale-Ettrick-Trempealeau, 97 Wis.2d 435, 445 (1980) ("An existing right of action which has accrued under the rules of the common law or in accordance with its principles is a vested property right")(emphasis added); Matthies, at ¶22. Any "uncertainty" regarding whether Yasmine will ultimately <u>recover</u> after a trial, or whether public policy considerations will be deemed to limit any *recovery* that is obtained, or whether some other speculation about a future event helpful to tortious lead pigment manufacturers can be conjured by their lawyers, is wholly irrelevant. These asserted contingencies do not in any way limit the vesting of Yasmine's substantive right to her cause of action under risk contribution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Even so, it should be noted that in *Matthies*, (at  $\P46$ ), the Court held that the alteration to the joint and several liability statute *had the <u>potential</u> to reduce Matthie's damages by 50%, possibly more*. Any such potential reduction would be contingent of a successful recovery, yet the *Matthies* Court did not conclude that the substantive right had not vested because of its contingent nature.

# 2. The Trial Court Properly Weighed the Public Purpose Against the Private Interest

## a. <u>When reviewing the constitutionality of retroactive litigation, the</u> <u>Court—not the state legislature—is to weigh the public purpose</u> <u>against the private interest</u>

Wisconsin law is clear: it is within the judicial branch's authority to review the constitutionality of retroactive legislation. Citing to United States Supreme Court precedent, this Court set out the analysis that *courts* should undertake when considering the constitutionality of retroactive legislation:

To determine whether a retroactive statute comports with due process <u>we</u> must weigh the public interest served by the retroactive statute against the private interests that are overturned by it. *Adams Nursing Home of Williamstown, Inc. v. Mathews*, 548 F.2d 1077, 1080 (1st Cir. 1977). Implicit within this analysis is a consideration of the unfairness created by the retroactive legislation. *United States Trust Co. v. New Jersey*, 431 U.S. 1, 17 n. 13 (1977) (quoting Welch v. Henry, 305 U.S. 134, 147 (1983), and citing *Turner Elkhorn*, 428 U.S. at 14-20) (stating that retroactive legislation may offend due process if it is "particularly 'harsh and oppressive'").

Martin by Scoptur v. Richards, 192 Wis. 2d 156, 201 (Wis. 1995) (emphasis added); see also Society Insurance, at ¶ 30 (quoting Matthies at ¶27)(the court's analysis "involves weighing the public interest served by retroactively applying the statute against the private interest that retroactive application of the statute would affect."). This "Martin balancing test" has been applied by Wisconsin courts on numerous occasions. *E.g., Neiman v. American Nat'l Prop. & Cas. Co.,* 2000 WI 83 (Wis. 2000); Barbara B. v. Dorian H. (In re John R. B.), 2005 WI 6 (Wis. 2005); Johnson v. Cintas Corp. No. 2, 2015 WI App 14 (Wis. Ct. App. 2015).

It is clear that the "we" that the *Martin* Court held responsible for the weighing of public and private interests is the court, itself. It is also clear that the court should not simply defer to the opinions of another body. In fact, in *Martin*, this Court specifically recognized that it had seen the state's arguments (in support of the public interests furthered by the legislation) raised and discussed in "other forums"—but it was the court that was the ultimate determiner of the constitutionality of the retroactive legislation. *Martin*, 192 Wis. 2d at 203-206.

By asserting, at pages 47, and 57 to 59 of their brief, that courts cannot weigh the public purpose and private interests on their own—and simply must defer to the legislature's own weighing of those interests—Defendants-Appellants seek to completely abrogate the role of the Court in the interpretation of the Wisconsin constitution.<sup>9</sup> (Defendants-Appellants' Brief at 57-59). First, it goes without saying that almost any time a piece of legislation is passed, the state legislature has weighed the public and private interests at stake. There is simply no support for the argument that the court is precluded from weighing interests on its own. *See, e.g., Neiman v. American Nat'l Prop.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Defendants-Appellants' demand that the "Court cannot set aside the Legislature's balance of public and private interests" (*see* section C, at page 57 of Brief) would conflate the rational basis review for prospective statutes with the rational basis review for retroactive statutes. This flies in the face of all reported precedent of this Court and borders on being a frivolous argument. Further, the argument also presumes that the Legislature in fact actually balanced Yasmine's private interests before deciding to extinguish them in favor of the public policies declared in the statute. First, the legislature did no such thing—there is not a scintilla of evidence to support this contention. And as noted in *Society Insurance*, at ¶33, due process review of retroactive statutes.

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